IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

RAFAEL PEREZ a/k/a RAY PEREZ And KATHY PEREZ

APPELLANTS

v.

Case No. 2009-CA-01892

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER, EL AL

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Wayne E. Ferrell, Jr., MB# Attorney at Law Post Office Box 24448 Jackson, MS 39225-4448 Telephone: (601) 969-4700 Facsimile: (601) 969-7514 wferrell@airlawonline.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

RAFAEL PEREZ a/k/a RAY PEREZ And KATHY PEREZ

APPELLANTS

 \mathbf{v}_{i}

Case No. 2009-CA-01892

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER, EL AL

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendants' Motions for Summary

Judgment based upon the perceived failure of Plaintiff to prove causation through the affidavit of

David M. Berry, M.D.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Rafael Perez ("Perez") was a patient at the University of Mississippi Medical Center ("UMC") after sustaining an eye injury. (T. 3). While at UMC, Perez was prescribed Ocuflox Ophthalmic ("Ocuflox"). (R. 42; 224). However, the dispensing pharmacy, Cardinal Health 109, Inc. ("Cardinal Health"), which is located on the campus of UMC, filled the prescription with Floxin Otic instead ("Floxin"). (R. 42; 224; T. 5-6). Floxin is intended for use in the human ear. (R. 42). When the Floxin was administered to Perez' eye, his condition worsened to the extent that the affected eye was eventually removed. (R. 43; T. 13-14). Plaintiffs subsequently filed this action against UMC and Cardinal Health in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. (R. 7-12; 40-51).

B. Course of the Proceedings Below

On or about May 21, 2004, Plaintiffs filed suit in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi against Defendants UMC and Cardinal Health. (R. 7-12). After receiving permission from the Court, an Amended Complaint was filed on April 6, 2005. (R. 40-51). During the course of discovery, Plaintiff filed a motion for partial summary judgment and

¹ Plaintiffs note that the transcript of the hearing on defendants' motions for summary judgment was designated as a part of the record (R. 431) and a copy of same was certified and paid for (R. 433). However, the transcript was not numbered in keeping with the rest of the record. For purposes of this brief, the August 21, 2009 hearing transcript will be referred to as "T." followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned in the original transcript.

rebuttal in support of same. (R. 162-66; 268-86). UMC and Cardinal Health responded in opposition to the Perez' motion. (R. 167-74; 175-76).

Defendants also filed their own motions for summary judgment claiming that Plaintiffs had failed to prove causation. (R. 208-12; 331-36; 337-42). Specifically, it was maintained that the affidavit of Plaintiffs' expert, David M. Berry, M.D., was insufficient pertaining to the issue of causation. *Id.* Plaintiffs filed objections and responses to these motions. (R. 343-80; 381-420; 421-22).

C. Disposition in the Court Below

On August 21, 2009, the trial court granted summary judgment for Defendants University of Mississippi Medical Center and Cardinal Health 109, Inc., on the basis that Plaintiffs did not show proof of causation of Mr. Perez' injuries. (Tr. 10; 15-16). The lower court entered a final judgment for Defendants on the same date. (R. 423). Plaintiffs timely appealed the lower court's grant of summary judgment on September 17, 2009 (R. 424).

D. Statement of Facts

On or about April 7, 2003, Ray Perez was admitted to UMC as a patient for treatment pertaining to an emergency cornea transplant. (R. 58).² It is undisputed that after surgery, Perez was prescribed Ocuflox, but Floxin was dispensed. (R. 186; 262). Ocuflox has been approved for treatment of the eye. (R. 191). Floxin has been approved for treatment of the ear. (R. 191; 240). The Floxin was then administered to Perez' eye four times a day for three or four days. (R. 42). Subsequent to the use of Floxin, the Plaintiff experienced heart palpitations and intense eye pain. (R. 43). Mr. Perez' entire cornea became ulcerated and multiple infections ensued. *Id.* The Plaintiff became unable to open his eye due to infection and medication had to be

² The transplant had become necessary after extensive damage was caused when molten steel entered the Plaintiff's left eye. (R. 186).

administered via an incision in the eye area. (R. 43). Eventually, Perez' eye condition worsened to the extent that the affected eye was removed. (T. 13-14).

At all relevant times, Defendants represented to the Perez family that it was necessary for Mr. Perez to undergo an emergency cornea transplant and that proper medication would be provided to him. (R. 44). Despite the fact that the wrong medication was administered to Mr. Perez by Defendants and the fact that Mr. Perez sustained severe injuries subsequent to receiving the wrong medication, Defendant deny any liability to the Plaintiffs. (R. 52-65; 83-88).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact precluding the entry of a judgment as a matter of law for Defendants. There exists an issue of material fact as to whether the erroneous dispensing of Floxin caused injury to Mr. Perez. The competing expert testimony should have precluded the entry of summary judgment and been submitted to a jury as to Cardinal Health and to the Court as to UMC.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court employs a *de novo* standard of review of the lower court's grant of summary judgment. *Saucier v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 708 So.2d 1351, 1354 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Townsend v Estate of Gilbert*, 616 So.2d 333,335 (Miss. 1993)). Motions for summary judgment are not favored and summary judgment is not appropriate unless the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Miss. R.Civ.P. 56(c). The Comment to Rule 56 provides that "summary judgment is *not* a substitute for the trial of *disputed fact issues*. Accordingly, the court cannot try

issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determine whether there are issues to be tried. . . . [I]t cannot be used to deprive a litigant of a full trial of genuine fact issues." (Emphasis added). Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite. In addition, the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of fact exists is on the moving party. In other words, the non-movant should be given the benefit of the doubt.

Mantachie Natural Gas District v. Mississippi Valley Gas Company, 594 So.2d 1170, 1172

(Miss. 1992). A motion for summary judgment should be overruled unless the trial court finds, beyond any reasonable doubt, that the plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts to support his claim. McFadden v. State, 580 So.2d 1210, 1214 (Miss. 1991).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON THE PERCEIVED FAILURE OF PLAINTIFF TO PROVE CAUSATION THROUGH THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID M. BERRY, M.D.

In the case *sub judice*, the Defendants made no motion to strike the affidavit of Dr. Berry and the trial court judge considered the affidavit as a whole before determining it to be insufficient regarding the issue of causation. The trial court erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact precluding the entry of a judgment as a matter of law for Defendants. There exists an issue of material fact as to whether the erroneous dispensing of Floxin by the Defendants caused injury to Mr. Perez. The competing facts presented through expert testimony should have precluded the entry of summary judgment and been submitted to a jury as to Cardinal Health and to the Court as to UMC.

The admission or exclusion of expert testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

Franklin v. Tedford, 18 So.3d 215, 233 (Miss. 2009). A trial court's decision constitutes an abuse of discretion if the decision was arbitrary and clearly erroneous. Kilhullen v. Kansas City

So. Ry., 8 So.3d 168, 172 (Miss. 2009) (quoting Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003)).

At no time did the trial court hold Dr. Berry's affidavit to be inadmissible. In this instance, the lower court, upon review of the affidavit and after hearing arguments pertaining to same, specifically found that Dr. Berry's testimony as to causation was speculative and "indefinite." (T. 15-16). In Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716, 722 (Miss. 2005), this Court addressed the purported speculative nature of an expert's opinion as to causation. Poole's beneficiaries argued that Dr. Avara's testimony pertaining to causation was insufficient or speculative because "the only certain fact [was] that the suture burst, not what the cause of the burst was." Id. On appeal, this Court found that Dr. Avara's testimony as to the cause of the tear was valid, because it constituted a medical opinion based on the experience, training, and expertise of a qualified medical expert. Id. at 724. The Court stated that "[r]equiring that the subject of expert testimony be known to a certainty is not necessary either, however, because, as the Daubert Court pointed out, 'there are no certainties in science.'" Id. at 723-24 (quoting Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590, 113 S.Ct. 2786). "Unlike an ordinary witness . . . an expert is permitted wide latitude to offer opinions, including those that are not based on firsthand knowledge or observation." *Id.* at 724 (quoting *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 592, 113 S.Ct. 2786). As was the case in *Poole*, Dr. Berry's affidavit clearly indicates that he reviewed all relevant medical records prior to making a decision based upon his knowledge and experience. (R. 231-232). While Dr. Berry's opinion as to causation may not have been as straight forward as the trial court wished, the trial judge noted at the hearing that a medical expert is not required to express his opinions "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty." (T. 7).

In the current situation, simply stated, Plaintiffs' expert opines that the Floxin probably

caused Mr. Perez' injuries, which Defendants' experts argue that the Floxin could not have caused the injuries. The disagreement, or battle of the experts, is one that should be decided by a jury. See Hills v. Mills, 26 So.3d 322, 330 (Miss. 2010); Bickham v. Grant, 861 So.2d 299, 307 (Miss. 2003). See also Brownlee v. State, 2009-KA-00372-COA (¶ 4) (Miss.App. 2009) (holding that any conflicts in witness testimony are the province of the jury). "Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence."

McLemore, 863 So.2d at 36 (quoting Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 596, 113 S.Ct. 2786 (1993)). Thus, the trial court invaded the province of the jury as to Cardinal Health and to the Court as to UMC in determining Dr. Berry's testimony to be speculative and finding in favor of Defendants on their motions for summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

There exists an issue of material fact as to whether the erroneous administration of Floxin by the Defendants caused injury to Mr. Perez. Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court reverse the trial court's ordering granting summary judgment for Defendants. The Court should remand this case and the issue of causation should be presented to a jury as to Cardinal Health and to the Court as to UMC at the trial of this matter.