# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **DOCKET NO. 2009-CA-01892**

#### RAFAEL PEREZ

Plaintiff/Appellant

#### **VERSUS**

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER; CARDINAL HEALTH, 109 INC.; PHARMACY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS OF CARDINAL HEALTH f/k/a OWEN HEALTH CARE, INC.

Defendant/Appellees

#### HARTFORD ACCIDENT & INDEMNITY COMPANY

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST
JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, CARDINAL HEALTH 109, INC.
(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

DOVE & CHILL Luke Dove, MSB No 1020 Highland Colony Parkway Suite 412 Ridgeland, MS 39157 Telephone: 601.352.0999 Facsimile: 601.352.0990

Email: lukedove@dovechill.com

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

UMMC and Cardinal Health met the summary judgment standard by demonstrating that Perez could not show that the dispensing of Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> instead of Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> was the proximate cause of any harm to Perez' eye. They met their burden through expert opinion testimony which was supported by facts in the record.

The information in the package inserts for Floxin Otic® and Ocuflox® showed that each contains exactly the same active ingredient, the same solution and practically identical pH levels.

The affidavit testimony of UMMC's and Cardinal Health's three experts confirmed that the active ingredient in, and the solutions for, Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> and Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> are medically and therapeutically identical. They explained that although Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> is approved, manufactured and marketed for use in the ear, it can be and is used interchangeably for the ear and the eye Finally, they opined that the damage to Perez' eye was not caused by his use of Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup>, but instead, was the result of the hot molten steel that initially caused the injury.

Perez failed to meet his summary judgment burden because he did not produce significant probative evidence to show that Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> proximately **caused** or contributed to the harm to his eye. Dr. Berry's unsubstantiated conclusions were not sufficient because he provided no facts to support them.

The circuit court appropriately disregarded Perez' expert's conclusory statements and entered summary judgment on Perez' negligence claim because he did not establish a dispute about facts that are material to the **causation** element of his negligence claim.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Standard of Review

¶6. The standard of review for the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment is de novo. Stringer v. Trapp, 30 So. 3d 339, 341 (Miss. 2010). Summary judgment properly may be granted where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." M.R.C.P. 56(c).

Gorton v. Rance, \_\_\_\_ So.3d \_\_\_\_\_, NO. 2009-IA-01111-SCT, 2011 Miss. LEXIS 62, \*4-\*5 (¶6) (Miss. Jan. 27, 2011).

#### UMMC's and Cardinal Health's Summary Judgment Motions

As the movants for summary judgment, UMMC and Cardinal Health had "the job of persuading the court, first, that there is no genuine issue of material fact and, second, that on the basis of the facts established, [they were] entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Fruchter v. Lynch Oil Co., 522 So.2d 195, 198 (Miss. 1988). To satisfy this burden, UMMC and Cardinal Health showed Perez could not prove one of the essential elements of his negligence claim and, therefore, they were entitled to summary judgment because "[s]ummary judgment is mandated where the respondent has failed "to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996), citing, Galloway v. Travelers Insurance Co., 515 So. 2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987), quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986)."

Causation was the tort claim element UMMC and Cardinal Health showed Perez could not prove. Proving causation is essential to his claim. *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center*, 564 So.2d 1346, 1355 (Miss. 1990) ("[T]he conventional tort elements [are] duty, breach of duty, proximate causation, and injury (i.e., damages)."); *Burnham v. Tabb*, 508 So.2d 1072, 1074 (Miss. 1987)("Proximate cause is an essential element in an action of negligence . . . .").

UMMC and Cardinal Health relied on the package inserts for Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> and Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> and on three affidavits to produce facts which showed Perez' use of Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> could not and did not "cause" injury or damage to his eye.

# Ocuflox® Package Insert and Floxin Otic® Package Insert

The ingredient and formulations shown in the package inserts for Ocuflox® (R. 335; RE 43) and for Floxin Otic® (R.336; RE 44) are listed in this table. There is no material difference. They are for all practical purposes identical.

	Floxin Otic® (R.336; RE 44)	Ocuflox® (R.335; RE 43)	
Active Ingredient	ofloxacin 0 .3%	ofloxacin 0.3%	
Ofloxacin Formula	C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>20</sub> FN <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>20</sub> FN <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	
Molecular weight	361.38	361.37	
Ofloxacin chemical name	(±)-9-fluoro-2,3-dihydro-3-methyl-10-(4-methyl-1- piperazinyl) -7-oxo-7 <i>H</i> -pyrido[1,2,3-de]-1,4benzoxazine-6-carboxylic acid.	(±)-9-Fluoro-2,3-dihydro-3-methyl-10-(4-methyl-1- piperazinyl) -7-oxo-7 <i>H</i> -pyrido[1,2,3-de]-1,4benzoxazine-6-carboxylic acid.	
рН	$6.5 \pm 0.5$	6.4 (range 6.0 to 6.8)	
Other Ingredients	Benzalkonium chloride, sodium chloride and water and hydrochloric acid and sodium hydroxide to adjust the pH	Benzalkonium chloride, sodium chloride and purified water and hydrochloric acid and/or sodium hydroxide to adjust pH.	

#### Affidavit of Michael Todaro, Phar D.

Dr. Michael Todaro has been engaged in the clinical practice of pharmacy for 10 years and specializes in pharmacology and pharmacokinetics. (R. 216, 217; RE 35, 36). Pharmacy is "the branch of health sciences dealing with the preparation, dispensing, and proper utilization of drugs." 5 Pharmacology is "the science that deals with the origin, nature, chemistry, effects, and uses of drugs . . . " <sup>6</sup> Pharmacokinetics is "that branch of pharmacology which deals with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition</u> at 1367(2000). <sup>6</sup> <u>Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition</u> at 1366(2000).

biological, biochemical, and economic features of natural drugs and their constituents."

Dr. Todaro stated that "Floxin Otic and Ocuflox Ophthalmic solutions contain identical ingredients [and] Floxin Otic can be, and is, used interchangeably for ears and eyes." (R. 217; RE 36). Based on these factual findings and his education and experience, Dr. Todaro opined "to a reasonable degree of medical probability" that "whether Floxin Otic or Ocuflox Ophthalmic solution was dispensed **did not have an effect** on [Perez'] medical outcome . . . [and] the use of Floxin Otic rather than Ocuflox Ophthalmic **does not suggest [Perez'] medical outcome was caused** by Floxin Otic because they contain identical ingredients." (R. 216, 217; RE 35, 36)(emphasis added).

#### Affidavit of Anthony J. Verlangieri, Ph.D.

Dr. Verlangieri is a toxicologist/pharmacologist and is employed in the Pharmacology Department at the University of Mississippi School of Pharmacy where he has been a full professor of toxicology and pharmacology since 1986. (R.218; RE 37). Toxicology is "the scientific study of poisons, their actions, their detection, and the treatment of the conditions produced by them." <sup>8</sup> Dr. Verlangieri stated that:

- ♦ Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic® contain the antibiotic Ofloxacin and Ofloxacin is in the same "sterile aqueous antibacterial solutions" in "identical pharmacological and chemical formulations", and that Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic® "are active against the same organisms" and "are therapeutically equivalent". (R.218, 219; RE 37, 38).
- ♦ Ocuflox® is approved, manufactured and marketed for use in the eye. (R. 219; RE 38).
- Floxin Otic® is approved, manufactured and marketed for use in the ear. (R. 219; RE 38).

  Based on these facts and based on his education and experience, to include his familiarity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition</u> at 1367(2000).

with the drug formulations for Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic® and the pharmacological composition of their preparations, Dr. Verlangieri opined to a reasonable degree of phamacological certainty "that the use of [Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup>] in the eye could have no adverse effect" and that "the use of Floxin Otic or Ocuflox would not have caused or contributed to [Perez'] eye injury or the damages he alleges [in his lawsuit]". (R. 219; RE 38)(emphasis added).

#### Affidavit of Maurice James, M.D.

Dr. James is a board certified ophthalmologist and has practiced and trained physicians for 30 years. (R. 221; RE 40). An ophthalmologist is "a physician who specializes in the diagnosis and medical and surgical treatment of diseases and defects of the eye and related structures." Dr. James is familiar with corneal transplantation surgery and the applicable standard of care and he is familiar with the use of Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic®. (R. 221-222; RE 40–41). Based on his review of Perez' medical records and medical literature and based on Dr. James' education, training, and experience, Dr. James opined to a "reasonable decree of medical certainty" that

Mr. Perez had a prior industrial injury which created a medical condition that caused several corneal transplants to be attempted—all of which failed. The severity of his injury created an environment that made graft failure more probable than not regardless of whether Floxin Otic was administered. One cannot conclude, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that Mr. Perez's [sic] ultimate outcome was caused by Floxin Otic and to assert such is speculative and inconsistent with his disease state, previous surgical outcome and fund of knowledge currently existent.

To a reasonable degree of medical probability, the administration of Floxin Otic to Mr. Perez was not a cause of his corneal failure. (R.223; RE 42)(emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition at 1855 (2000).

<sup>9</sup> Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition at 1270(2000).

10

#### Summary Of UMMC's and Cardinal Health's Undisputed Facts

- The package inserts showed the two solutions were identical in every material way.
- According to Dr. Todaro, the clinical pharmacist, Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic® can be used
  in the eyes or ears with no adverse effect, and Perez' use of Floxin Otic® had no effect
  on his medical outcome.
- According to Dr. Verlangieri, the pharmacologist, Ofloxacin is used in Ocuflox® and in Floxin Otic® in the same pharmacological and chemical formulations and Ocuflox® and Floxin Otic® work against the same organism, and Ocuflox® is marketed for the eyes and Floxin Otic® is marketed for the ears, but Perez' use of Floxin Otic® had no adverse effect on his eye.
- According to Dr. James, the ophthalmologist, the severity of Perez' eye injury and the
  several prior unsuccessful corneal transplant attempts made this transplant surgery
  problematic, and the dispensing of Floxin Otic® was not the cause of the failure of Perez'
  corneal transplant surgery.

This factual and opinion evidence showed that Perez could not establish the causation element of his negligence claim.

The burden now shifted to Perez, and he "was required to rebut [UMMC's and Cardinal Health's summary judgment evidence] by producing *significant*, *probative* evidence establishing that [his eye injury] was proximately caused by [the negligent dispensing of Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup>].... [and he] must... set forth by affidavit or other means specific facts showing that triable issues of fact exist [on causation]." *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center*, 564 So.2d at 1356. (emphasis in original).

#### Perez' Opposition to Summary Judgment

Perez relied on Dr. Berry's affidavit to oppose the summary judgment motions. Dr. Berry is a medical doctor who did his residency in emergency medicine and currently operates a business he founded in 2007 that provides expert medical consultation and testimony. (R. 234; RE 32). Emergency medicine is "that speciality which deals with acutely ill or injured patients who require immediate medical treatment." <sup>10</sup>

Dr. Berry acknowledges the active ingredient in Ocuflox® is the same as the active ingredient in Floxin Otic®:

- "Ocuflox and Floxin [Otic®] are the same family of antibiotics. . .."
- Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> and Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> "have the **same** antimicrobial action in the manner in which they rid the body of certain types of microbes, mainly bacteria. . .."
- "The active ingredient [ofloxacin 0.3%] of these two medications falls under the class of fluoriquinolones . . . [and] [i]n this regard Ocuflox and Floxin [Otic®], for all practical purposes are identical medications in their antimicrobial effects."
- "[T]he antibiotic in the otic solution is **similar** to the antibiotic in the ophthalmic solution."

(R. 231-232; RE 29-30)(emphasis added).

Dr Berry never disagrees with the information in each package insert which shows the active ingredient in Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> and Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> has the same formula (C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>20</sub>FN<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), the same chemical name<sup>11</sup> and almost identical molecular weight (361.37/361.38). (R. 335, 336; RE 43, 44).

12

Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29th Edition at 1070(2000).

<sup>11 &</sup>quot;(±)-9-fluoro-2,3-dihydro-3-methyl-10-(4-methyl-1- piperazinyl) -7- oxo-7H-pyrido [1,2,3-de] -1,4benzoxazine-6-carboxylic acid."

Nonetheless, Dr. Berry contends the "solution" for Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> is different from the "solution" for Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> but the only difference he identifies is that the former is used for the ear and the latter is used for the eye. (R.231, 232; RE 29, 30). Otherwise, Dr. Berry never identifies or describes how the "solutions" differ.

Dr. Berry does not address the other ingredients in Floxin Otic® and Ocuflox®. However, if he did, he would have to concede they are identical. Both package inserts show the solution ingredients in both to be Benzalkonium chloride, sodium chloride, water, hydrochloric acid and sodium hydroxide to adjust the pH. (R. 335, ; RE 43-44).

Dr. Berry does not comment on the pH for each solution. The average pH for Ocuflox® is "6.4" and the average pH for Floxin Otic® is "6.5". (R. 335, 336; RE 43, 44). The slight difference could not cause the eye injury because the average pH for Ocuflox® is slightly more acidic than the average pH for Floxin Otic®. 12

Lacking any factual foundation, Dr. Berry, nonetheless concludes: "[I]f an otic solution of antibiotics is used in the eye it can and more probably than not will cause caustic damage to the eye." (R. 232; RE 30). Dr. Berry never gives any reason(s) to support his conclusion.

Floxin Otic® (pH 6.4) is slightly less acidic than Ocuflox® (pH 6.5). Dr. Berry gives no reason why Floxin Otic's® allegedly corrosive action would cause "caustic damage" but using the slightly more acidic Ocuflox® would not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>pH is "is the symbol relating the hydrogen ion (H<sup>+</sup>) concentration or activity of a solution to that of a given standard solution. Numerically the pH is approximately equal to the negative logarithm of H<sup>+</sup> concentration expressed in molarity. pH 7 is neutral; above it alkalinity increases and below it acidity increases." <u>Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29<sup>th</sup> Edition</u> at 1364(2000). If pH readings are displayed on a vertical scale with the neutral reading (pH 7) in the center of the scale, as you go up the scale from neutral, the pH readings is alkaline and the readings increase from 7.1 to 7.2 and so on. As you go down the scale from neutral, the pH reading is acidic and the numbers decrease from 6.9 to 6.8 and so on. Therefore, if you have two readings below the pH 7 neutral reading, the reading farthest away from neutral is the more acidic reading of the two. Thus, the pH of 6.4 for Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> is more acidic than the pH reading of 6.5 for Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> because the 6.4 pH reading is farther away from pH 7 (neutral)

Dr. Berry admits the "extensive damage" caused by the hot molten steel to Perez' eye "makes it **extremely difficult** to determine if any further damage was caused by the use of Floxin Otic". (R. 232; RE 30)(emphasis added). Nonetheless, Dr. Berry concludes "it would not be unreasonable to expect him to have damage to his eye as a result of the use of the Floxin Otic solution." (R.232; RE 30). Nowhere does Dr. Berry identify the facts that enabled him to overcome this "difficulty" to reach his conclusion.

The circuit court found Dr. Berry's affidavit was insufficient to create a dispute with the factual foundation presented by UMMC and Cardinal Health because Dr. Berry never identified **how** the two solutions differed and never explained **how** and **why** using Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> instead of Ocuflox<sup>®</sup> could harm Perez' eye. (Tr. 9-10; RE16-17).

An affidavit "without foundation in fact as to how, when, and why" is "conclusory" Dalton v. Cellular South, Inc., 20 So.3d 1227, 1234 (¶ 16)(Miss. 2009)(emphasis added)("CSI's conclusory affidavit was offered without foundation in fact as to how, when and why CSI determined that continuation of the contract as detrimental to its well-being, reputation, and goodwill."), cited in, Sweet v. TCI Ms. Inc., 47 So.3d 89, 93-94 (¶¶20,21) (Miss. 2010)((Finding affidavit by TCI's president to be conclusory and self-serving because it "does not show when or how TCI attempted to obtain financing, or why TCI's available options were unsatisfactory."). See Black's Law Dictionary 284 (7th Edition 1999)(Defining conclusory as "[e]xpressing a factual inference without stating the underlying facts on which the inference is based.").

Dr. Berry's affidavit is certainly conclusory because he never gives any facts to explain how or why Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> caused any harm or damage to Perez' eye.

The Court dealt with the question of whether an affidavit was sufficient to establish causation in *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So.2d 951 (Miss. 2007) where the circuit court granted summary judgment to Dr. Wansley on the ground that plaintiff "Hubbard had failed to establish a causal link between her injuries and Dr. Wansley's alleged negligence." *Id.* at 964 (¶42) (emphasis added). Plaintiff Hubbard relied on affidavits by her expert, Dr. Lynn Stringer. *Id.* at 955, 964 (¶¶ 6,45). Dr. Stringer's affidavit testimony

contained the "magical" language: "[I]t is my opinion that had Ruby Hubbard been treated properly by Dr. Wansely, or if Dr. Wansley had notified appropriate personnel, it is my opinion that Ruby Hubbard would have had a greater than fifty percent chance of reduced neurological injury."

*Id.* at 965 (¶ 47).

The Court found that Dr. Stringer's opinion testimony was not sufficient because it lacked a factual foundation.

Dr. Stringer's assertion that Hubbard would have had a fifty percent greater chance of recovery is given with no real facts to back it up. . . . . The language of Dr. Stringer's affidavit is almost wholly conclusory on the issue of causation and gives very little in the way of specific facts and medical analysis to substantiate the claim that Hubbard had a greater than fifty percent change of substantial recovery if she had received the "optimal care" of which Dr. Stringer spoke. This Court has shown its disapproval of such affidavits in the past. Walker [v. Skiwski, 529 So.2d 184, 187 n.2 (Miss. 1988)].

Id. at 965-966 (¶ 48). The Court affirmed the grant of summary judgment to Dr. Wansely

because "Hubbard did not present evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to causation." *Id.* at 966 (¶ 50)(emphasis added).

Dr. Berry says the solutions differ but offers no facts to show how they differ. He says Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> is harmful if placed in the eye but presents no facts to explain why it is harmful. He states Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> caused "caustic damage" to Perez' eye but provides no facts to explain how and why it damaged Perez' eye. The absence of a factual foundation renders Dr. Berry's affidavit testimony speculative conjecture which cannot defeat summary judgment. *E.g., Rogers v. Barlow Eddy Jenkins, P.A.*, 22 So. 3d 1219, 1225 (¶21)(Miss. Ct. App. 2009)("Summary judgment may not be defeated through expert opinions that are not based on facts but instead are based on a guess, speculation, or conjecture.").

Perez presented no other evidence to oppose the summary judgment motion. The evidence from the package inserts and the affidavits of Drs. Todaro, Verlangieri and James is undisputed. This evidence shows Perez cannot prove the causation element for his negligence claim because Floxin Otic<sup>®</sup> did not cause any harm to his eye. Because Perez created no genuine issue of fact as to causation, the circuit court properly granted summary judgment to UMMC and Cardinal Health. *E.g., Powell v. Methodist Healthcare-Jackson Hospitals*, 876 So.2d 347, 349 (¶9) (Miss. 2004)(*en banc*)(Summary judgment granted on Powell's claims because, *inter alia*, Powell "made no showing of a causal connection between her injuries and Methodist's acts or conduct...."); *Lott v. Harris D. Purvis & BRJ, Inc.*, 2 So.3d 789, 793 (¶ 16)(Miss. Ct. App. 2009)(Summary Judgment affirmed where "Lott presented no evidence of causation aside from her own allegations [so] there was no genuine issue of material fact as to the causation element of negligence").

Perez argues the circuit court erred because '[t]he competing facts presented through expert testimony should have precluded the entry of summary judgment. . . " (Perez' brief at 5).

But Perez, like Dr. Berry, does not set forth the "competing facts". Without these facts, Dr. Berry's affidavit and Perez' Brief contain nothing more than a list of conclusory speculative statements. The circuit court properly disregarded Dr. Berry's affidavit because it contains no "competing facts." See, Rogers v. Barlow Eddy Jenkins, P.A., 22 So. 3d at 1226, 1227 (¶ 24, 29)( It was appropriate to disregard experts' factually unsupported opinion testimony and to grant defendant summary judgment where plaintiff's expert failed to establish causation); Davis v. Christian Brotherhood Homes of Jackson, Mississippi, 957 So.2d 390, 409-410 (¶47)(Miss. App. Ct. 2007)(The trial judge "properly disregarded" plaintiff's security expert's factually unsupported opinion testimony in rendering summary judgment for the defendant for plaintiff's failure to establish proximate cause.).

Perez relies on selected quotations from *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005). (Perez' Brief at 6). That case involved an appeal from a defense jury verdict in a medical malpractice claim. Summary judgment was not granted. The sufficiency of an expert's affidavit was not involved. The quotations from *Poole v. Avara* relate to Plaintiff Poole's appeal argument that the trial court erred when it overruled her *Daubert/McLemore* objection under MRE 702 to the defendant's expert testimony. The quotations are relevant to that appeal issue but the quotations do not support Perez' appeal argument. Nothing in MRE 702 prohibits a trial court from disregarding an insufficiently supported expert affidavit when the trial court considers a summary judgment motion. In fact, the requirement in MRE 702(1) that an expert's opinion be "based upon sufficient facts or data" applies to an expert's affidavit in the summary judgment

context and supports a trial judge's decision to disregard any conclusions in an expert affidavit that do not have a factual basis. Davis v. Christian Brotherhood Homes of Jackson, Mississippi, 957 So.2d at 409 (¶44)([T]he court's ruling that there was no 'factual basis' for [the expert's] conclusions implicates Rule 702(1)"). Since Dr. Berry's affidavit had no facts to support his conclusions, the circuit court complied with the language and intent of MRE 702 when it found Dr. Berry's affidavit testimony was not factually sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact on causation.

Finally, Perez argues that since Dr. Berry concluded Floxin Otic® harmed Perez' eye and since UMMC's and Cardinal Health's experts opined Floxin Otic® did not, the circuit court was confronted with a "battle of the experts" which a jury must decide. (Perez' Brief at 6-7). Perez incorrectly frames the issue. "[W]e are not faced with two battling experts. . . .. Rather, our inquiry here turns on whether [Dr. Berry's] affidavit is insufficient because it is unsubstantiated and conclusory." *Sanders v. Wiseman*, 29 So.3d 138,142 (¶15)(Miss. Ct. App. 2010).

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